RECEIVED

Dec 13 2022

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Charleston County

Honorable Jennifer B. McCoy, Circuit Court Judge

MARK LORENZO BLAKE,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-000714

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the post-conviction relief (PCR) judge err by finding trial counsel was not ineffective when he failed to object to Deputy Andrew Miller's improper comment about "the drugs he [Petitioner] was selling" pursuant to Rule 404(b), SCRE, since the evidence was inadmissible propensity evidence, and where Petitioner was prejudiced by counsel's deficient performance since there is a reasonable probability the outcome of Petitioner's trial would have been different, particularly where Petitioner was being tried for possession with intent to distribute heroin after heroin was allegedly found in his apartment during the execution of a search warrant?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Based on an ongoing narcotics investigation, officers with the Charleston County Sheriff's Office obtained a search warrant for Petitioner's apartment in West Ashley.¹ App. 141, ll. 10-20. To mitigate the risk of potential harm to the officers executing the warrant as well as the community, law enforcement decided to arrest Petitioner away from his residence by way of a "felony traffic stop" before the search warrant was executed. App. 145, ll. 6-25. Agent Frank Waddell conducted surveillance outside Petitioner's apartment and, on the afternoon of February 22, 2013, saw Petitioner leave his apartment, get into his car, and drive away. App. 146, ll. 1-13. Agent Waddell, as well as other officers in both marked and unmarked police vehicles, followed Petitioner. App. 146, l. 14 – 147, l. 21. Petitioner eventually stopped in the parking lot of his girlfriend's place of business. App. 166, ll. 6-22. The officers "pinched in" Petitioner's car, "came out with guns drawn," and loudly demanded that he get out of the car and show his hands. App. 167, ll. 1-19; App. 168, ll. 16-21. When Petitioner, who was on the phone, did not immediately comply, the officers physically removed him from the car, placed him on the ground, and secured him in handcuffs. App. 148, ll. 7-21; App. 169, ll. 1-12. Once Petitioner was in custody, Agent Waddell went inside the business and also arrested Petitioner's girlfriend, Dominique Jeter. App. 169, l. 22 – 170, l. 1.

Law enforcement then took Petitioner and Jeter back to their apartment and executed the search warrant while the pair waited outside. App. 170, ll. 2-5; App. 176, ll. 1-5. The officers claimed they "made a soft entry" into the apartment by using Petitioner's key. App. 149, ll. 2-

¹ Agent Frank Waddell, the lead investigator, claimed the "investigation included controlled purchases" at the residence, which "was the basis for the search warrant." However, trial counsel immediately objected to this testimony pursuant to Rule 404(b), SCRE. The trial judge properly sustained the objection and struck the question and answer from the record. App. 143, l. 17 – 144, l. 9.

12; App. 171, ll. 10-17. However, there was unexplained damage to the front door of the residence suggesting law enforcement forced entry instead. App. 172, l. 16 – 175, l. 18; App. 232, l. 21 – 233, l. 23.

During the search, officers allegedly found a brown powdered substance, which was later confirmed to be heroin, in a Tupperware container inside the refrigerator. App. 162, ll. 17-22; App. 221, ll. 9-10; App. 307, ll. 21-23. The state claimed the heroin was packaged for sale. There were eleven “bundles” of heroin which each contained ten “bindles.” The group of ten “bindles” was secured together with a rubber band to make a “bundle.” App. 160, l. 18 – 161, l. 6; App. 218, ll. 12-17. A “bindle” of heroin typically contains .01 to .03 grams of heroin. App. 160, ll. 23-25; App. 234, ll. 3-7.

Deputy Andrew Miller admitted that eleven “bundles” of heroin, which was the amount allegedly found in Petitioner’s refrigerator, would typically contain two to three grams of heroin. App. 234, l. 17 – 235, l. 2. However, before charging Petitioner, law enforcement chose to weigh the suspected heroin along with its packaging. The “gross aggregate weight” was allegedly thirty grams. Consequently, Petitioner was charged with trafficking thirty grams of heroin, a more serious offense than possession with intent to distribute, the charge he was subsequently indicted and tried for. App. 180, l. 4 – 181, l. 14. The chemist from the Charleston Police Department who analyzed the substance testified that the total weight was 1.12 grams. App. 308, l. 3.

A Charleston County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner on June 3, 2013 for possession with intent to distribute heroin. App. 600-601. His case was called to trial on June 14, 2016 before the Honorable D. Garrison Hill, and a jury. App. 1. Assistant Solicitors Stephanie Linder and Lauren Frierson represented the state. App. 1. Jason King represented Petitioner. App. 1. The

jury found Petitioner guilty as indicted. App. 380, l. 20 – 381, l. 8. He was sentenced to twelve years imprisonment. App. 389, ll. 21-24.

Petitioner timely filed a notice of appeal. Following briefing, the Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's conviction and sentence. State v. Mark Lorenzo Blake, Jr., Op. No. 2018-UP-111 (S.C. Ct. App. filed March 14, 2018); App. 438-439. On March 29, 2018, Petitioner filed a petition for rehearing. App. 440-453. By order filed April 26, 2018, the Court of Appeals denied the petition for rehearing. App. 454. On May 25, 2018, Petitioner filed a petition for writ of certiorari with this Court. App. 455-473. The state filed a return to this petition on June 25, 2018. App. 474-499. By order dated November 9, 2018, this Court denied the petition for writ of certiorari. App. 500.

On June 18, 2019, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 501-513. The state filed a return to this application on October 18, 2019. App. 514-520. An evidentiary hearing was held on December 9, 2021 before the Honorable Jennifer B. McCoy. App. 521. Assistant Attorneys General Lauren Mims and Samantha Weidauer represented the state. App. 521. Christopher Murphy represented Petitioner. App. 521.

At the beginning of the hearing, PCR counsel outlined the five allegations of ineffective assistance of trial counsel Petitioner intended to present. App. 525, ll. 8-14. One of the allegations was trial counsel's failure to object to Deputy Andrew Miller's comment about Petitioner selling drugs and move for a mistrial because of this improper testimony. Counsel emphasized that trial counsel objected to similar comments made by Agent Frank Waddell and the objection was sustained. App. 525, l. 24 – 526, l. 8.

During trial, the following exchange took place between the assistant solicitor and Deputy Miller:

Q: And what do rubber bands² indicate to you in your training and experience with regards to narcotics in the narcotics trade?

A: In my training and experience[e], this is how they would in - - **especially with the drugs that he [Petitioner] was selling**, how they would keep those together. They would wrap it up so they wouldn't lose any of the drugs that were inside.

App. 217, ll. 8-15 (emphasis added).

When questioned as to why he did not object to this unduly prejudicial testimony, trial counsel, Jason King, testified that he could not remember why he did not object or whether he had a strategic reason for failing to do so. App. 560, ll. 6-12.

By order filed May 10, 2022, the PCR judge denied Petitioner relief. App. 569-599. The judge found Petitioner failed to prove trial counsel was deficient or that he was prejudiced by counsel's failure to object to Deputy Miller's above testimony. App. 594. The judge concluded that even if the testimony was improper, it "does not rise to the level of manifest necessity required to warrant a mistrial." App. 596. Consequently, the judge determined trial counsel could not "be deemed deficient for failing to object to the statements or move for a mistrial." App. 596. Moreover, the judge found Petitioner failed to present any evidence that counsel's failure to object prejudiced Petitioner or had an effect on the outcome of his trial. App. 596. For whatever reason, the PCR judge never specifically addressed whether Deputy Miller's testimony was improper and whether trial counsel should have objected.

Because Petitioner's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to the effective assistance of counsel were violated by trial counsel's failure to object to Deputy Miller's comment about Petitioner selling drugs pursuant to Rule 404(b), SCRE, since the evidence was improper propensity evidence, and where Petitioner was prejudiced by counsel's deficient performance

² Law enforcement found "a large amount of rubber bands" inside Petitioner's apartment during the execution of the search warrant. App. 216, l. 15 – 217, l. 24.

since there is a reasonable probability the outcome of his trial would have been different had counsel properly objected, particularly given that Petitioner was being tried for possession *with intent to distribute*, this petition for writ of certiorari follows.

ARGUMENT

The post-conviction relief (PCR) judge erred by finding trial counsel was not ineffective when he failed to object to Deputy Andrew Miller’s improper comment about “the drugs he [Petitioner] was selling” pursuant to Rule 404(b), SCRE, since the evidence was inadmissible propensity evidence, and where Petitioner was prejudiced by counsel’s deficient performance since there is a reasonable probability the outcome of Petitioner’s trial would have been different, particularly where Petitioner was being tried for possession with intent to distribute heroin after heroin was allegedly found in his apartment during the execution of a search warrant.

Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to Deputy Miller’s improper comment about “the drugs he [Petitioner] was selling” pursuant to Rule 404(b), SCRE, since the evidence was inadmissible propensity evidence. Petitioner was prejudiced by counsel’s deficient performance because there is a reasonable probability the outcome of his trial would have been different if counsel had properly objected and the testimony was stricken from the record. Petitioner was being tried for possession with intent to distribute heroin. The state presented no evidence connecting Petitioner to the heroin found in his apartment. Accordingly, the jury likely inferred that Petitioner constructively possessed the heroin because he had a general propensity to sell drugs based on Deputy Miller’s inadmissible testimony.

In order to show ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, Petitioner must prove that “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result.” Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984); Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). The proper

measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-688.

A two-pronged test is used in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. Petitioner must prove “that counsel’s performance was deficient” and fell below reasonable professional norms, and there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result would have been different. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117-118, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688). “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial.” Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 668).

“Rule 404(b) prevents the State from introducing evidence of a defendant’s other crimes for the purpose of proving his propensity to commit the crime for which he is currently on trial.” State v. Perry, 430 S.C. 24, 30, 842 S.E.2d 654, 657 (2020). “South Carolina law precludes evidence of a defendant’s prior crimes or other bad acts to prove the defendant’s guilt for the crime charged except to establish (1) motive, (2) intent, (3) the absence of mistake or accident, (4) a common scheme or plan, or (5) the identity of the perpetrator.” State v. King, 334 S.C. 504, 512, 514 S.E.2d 578, 582 (1999) (citing Rule 404(b), SCRE, and State v. Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923)). “As a threshold matter, the trial court must determine whether the proffered evidence is relevant as required under Rule 401, SCRE.” State v. Cope, 405 S.C. 317, 337, 748 S.E.2d 194, 204 (2013) (citing State v. Clasby, 385 S.C. 148, 154, 682 S.E.2d 892, 895 (2009)). “If the trial court finds the evidence is relevant, it must then determine whether the bad act evidence fits within an exception in Rule 404(b).” Id.

“To be admissible, the bad act must logically relate to the crime with which the defendant has been charged.” Clasby, 385 S.C. at 155, 682 S.E.2d at 895 (quoting State v. Gaines, 380 S.C.

23, 29, 667 S.E.2d 728, 731 (2008) (internal quotation marks omitted). “If the defendant was not convicted of the prior crime, evidence of the prior bad act must be clear and convincing.” Cope, 405 S.C. at 337, 748 S.E.2d at 204 (quoting Gaines, 380 S.C. at 29, 667 S.E.2d at 731) (internal quotation marks omitted). “Even if prior bad act evidence is clear and convincing and falls within an exception, it must be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice to the defendant.” Cope, 405 S.C. at 337-38, 748 S.E.2d at 204-05 (citing Clasby, 385 S.C. at 155, 682 S.E.2d at 896); See Rule 403, SCRE. “Unfair prejudice means ‘an undue tendency to suggest [a] decision on an improper basis, commonly, though not necessarily, an emotional one.’” State v. Sweat, 362 S.C. 117, 128, 606 S.E.2d 508, 514 (Ct. App. 2004) (quoting State v. Alexander, 303 S.C. 377, 382, 401 S.E.2d 146, 149 (1991)) (alteration in original).

In State v. Sweat, 362 S.C. 117, 606 S.E.2d 508 (Ct. App. 2004), the Court of Appeals affirmed the admission of evidence of a prior bad act of domestic violence pursuant to Rule 404(b), and as part of the *res gestae*. Sweat was charged with first degree burglary, assault and battery with intent to kill, and three counts of assault of a high and aggravated nature after he invaded a home occupied by his estranged wife, her boyfriend, and several others on December 11, 2001. Sweat, 362 S.C. at 121-22, 606 S.E.2d at 510-11. The state introduced testimony from Sweat’s estranged wife about a domestic violence incident that took place two months earlier in October 2001. Id. at 122, 606 S.E.2d at 511. Sweat’s wife reported the prior incident to law enforcement and Sweat spent forty-five days in jail. Id. While he was in jail, Sweat’s wife ended their relationship and became romantically involved with another man. Id.

The Court of Appeals held the prior episode of domestic violence was admissible under Rule 404(b) as evidence of motive and intent. Id. at 124, 606 S.E.2d at 512. The court found

from the October incident that the jury could have inferred both (1) motive—that Sweat was driven by anger over his estranged wife causing him to go to jail and terminating their relationship; and (2) intent—that Sweat maliciously sought to inflict harm upon his estranged wife and her boyfriend. Id. at 126, 606 S.E.2d at 513. The court held the evidence was relevant because it tended to make the state’s version of the case more probable and was logically related to why Sweat went to the house that night and to his intentions once there. Id. at 127, 606 S.E.2d at 514.

Additionally, the court held the evidence was admissible as part of the *res gestae* and was properly admitted to “complete the story of the crime on trial.” Id. at 133, 606 S.E.2d at 517. The court concluded that the October incident, and the events that followed, including Sweat’s estranged wife moving out and ending their relationship, provided the jury with “an appropriate context in which to place the December 11 attack.” Id.

In State v. King, 334 S.C. 504, 514 S.E.2d 578 (1999), this Court held it was reversible error to admit evidence of prior thefts allegedly committed by King as evidence of motive or as part of the *res gestae*. King was accused of murdering his father-in-law, Billy Turbeville. Turbeville received two checks each month totaling \$2200. After paying his monthly bills totaling \$400, Turbeville kept the remaining cash inside his wallet in the front pocket of his pants. No wallet or cash was found on Mr. Turbeville when his body was discovered. King, 334 S.C. at 508, 514 S.E.2d at 580. The trial court allowed King’s ex-wife to testify that King regularly pawned household items, stole cash from her purse, forged checks on her bank account, stole cash from her bank account by using her ATM card, and stopped paying his share of the bills in the months that preceded the murder. Id. at 511, 514 S.E.2d at 582.

After considering both Rule 404(b), SCRE, and the *res gestae* theory, this Court held the remote thefts were not admissible under any theory, and that the evidence merely showed King's bad character and his propensity to commit crimes. Id. at 513, 514 S.E.2d at 583. The Court further held the admission of the evidence was not harmless because the prior thefts suggested King had a drug problem, which was highly prejudicial, and all the evidence against King was circumstantial. Id. at 514, 514 S.C. at 583.

In State v. Ostrowski, 435 S.C. 364, 867 S.E.2d 269 (Ct. App. 2021), the appellant was convicted of trafficking methamphetamine after methamphetamine, materials used to package drugs, a digital scale, and a glass pipe were seized from Ostrowski's home during the execution of a search warrant. Id. at 374, 867 S.E.2d at 274. The methamphetamine was found in the right front pants pocket from a pair of men's pants that were seized from a makeshift closet. Id. The Court of Appeals held the trial judge erred by admitting text messages sent and received by the phone seized from Ostrowski during his arrest. The text messages showed Ostrowski was selling drugs. Id. at 377, 867 S.E.2d at 275-76.

Ostrowski objected to the admission of the text messages pursuant to Rule 404(b), SCRE. He argued on appeal that the text messages were used by the state as improper character evidence to show Ostrowski was attempting to traffic the drugs found in his apartment because he had a general propensity to traffic drugs. Id. at 390, 867 S.E.2d at 282. The state argued the evidence was admissible to show identity and intent. Id. at 392, 867 S.E.2d at 283. The Court of Appeals disagreed. Id. The court asserted, "The inference that the State clearly wanted jurors to draw was that because some of the text messages indicated [Ostrowski] was dealing drugs earlier . . . then he must have owned the drugs found [in his house]." Id. at 392-93, 867 S.E.2d at 283-84. However, the court held the state failed to present any evidence to illustrate how the text

messages, even if they do prove a drug trafficking scheme, connected Ostrowski to the specific drugs found in his house during the execution of the warrant. Id. at 392, 867 S.E.2d at 283.

As to intent, the Court of Appeals emphasized that the statute codifying trafficking methamphetamine did not require Ostrowski to have any intent beyond knowing possession of the requisite amount of methamphetamine. Id. at 392, 867 S.E.2d at 284 (citing S.C. Code. Ann. § 44-53-375(C) (making it a crime to traffic methamphetamine or “knowingly [be] in actual or constructive possession or . . . knowingly attempt[] to become in actual or constructive possession of ten grams or more of methamphetamine”). Showing that the defendant had intent to distribute the drugs is not listed in the statute as necessary for a conviction. Id. The court asserted that the state could use any text messages that showed or tended to show that Ostrowski was in possession of the drugs found in his residence, but none of the messages did so. Rather, they established Ostrowski dealt drugs, at times from his home. Id. at 396, 867 S.E.2d at 285.

Moreover, the Court of Appeals held the probative value of the text messages was small given that Ostrowski did not need to have a subjective intent to traffic the drugs in order to be convicted under the statute. Id. at 398, 867 S.E.2d at 286. However, the evidence was unfairly prejudicial as the messages included crude and threatening language and appeared to have little to no connection to the drugs allegedly found in Ostrowski’s house. Id. at 398, 867 S.E.2d at 287. The state also referred to the text messages as the “strongest evidence in this case.” Id. at 399, 867 S.E.2d at 287. The Court of Appeals ultimately reversed Ostrowski trafficking conviction and remanded for a new trial.

In this case, trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to Deputy Miller’s improper comment about “the drugs he [Petitioner] was selling” pursuant to Rule 404(b), SCRE, since the evidence was inadmissible propensity evidence. The remark improperly suggested to the jury

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