RECEIVED

Feb 16 2023

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

CERTIORARI TO CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Honorable Jennifer B. McCoy, Circuit Judge
Appellate Case No. 2022-000714

MARK LORENZO BLAKE,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR
WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

AMBREE M. MULLER
S.C. Bar No. 104213
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3747

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Before trial, Petitioner moved to suppress the evidence found during the search, claiming the search was conducted unreasonably. (App. 39). He challenged the constitutionality of the search and asked that the State demonstrate the search was executed in a reasonable manner. (App. 39). The State called Detective Frank Waddell of the Charleston County Sheriff's Office to testify regarding the felony traffic stop and arrest. (App. 40). Detective Waddell testified that following Petitioner's arrest, the officers had also arrested his girlfriend and then headed to Petitioner's

¹ See *State v. Banda*, 371 S.C. 245, 253–54, 639 S.E.2d 36, 40–41 (2006).

residence to conduct the search. (App. 50-51). Waddell advised Petitioner he had a lawful search warrant signed by a judge to search Petitioner's residence. (App. 51). Waddell explained they did not use a ram to get into the apartment, but instead used Petitioner's keys. (App. 51-52).

Petitioner was detained on the front stoop while officers conducted the search. Petitioner was very agitated, speaking loudly and aggressively. (App. 53-54). Det. Waddell testified he even had to restrain Petitioner because he continued to stand up after being ordered to stay seated. (App. 64-65). Det. Waddell stated they kept Petitioner in the presence of law enforcement personnel instead of leaving him unattended because it was a safety issue. (App. 61). Det. Waddell testified that he tried to explain to Petitioner the reason for the search. (App. 54). On cross-examination, defense counsel asked whether Det. Waddell gave Petitioner a copy of the search warrant, to which he replied that he left a copy at the residence. (App. 62). He testified that Petitioner "made vague inquiries as to what's going on, I haven't done anything, this is private property, what are y'all doing, general inquiries of that nature," but did not say that Petitioner asked to see the search warrant. (App. 62). He further explained Petitioner was handcuffed sitting in a chair so he was not handed a copy as he would not have been able to hold it and read it behind his back, but Petitioner was advised of his warrants and the nature of the search warrant and what led to it. (App. 63-64). Waddell denied telling Petitioner not to worry about where the search warrant was; rather, he stated that Petitioner would have been advised that a copy was being left at the residence as standard practice. (App. 63-64).

Trial counsel introduced a copy of the search warrant statute, S.C. Code section 17-13-150, as Defendant's Exhibit #1 and asked Det. Waddell to read it. (App. 65). The statute provides in part: "When any person is served with a search warrant such person shall be furnished with a copy of the warrant along with the affidavit upon which such warrant was issued." (App. 65).

Trial counsel also introduced a copy of the search warrant as Defendant's Exhibit #2. (App. 66). Trial counsel pointed out that the search warrant contained a phrase that read: "copy of this search warrant shall be delivered to the person in charge of the premises searched at the time of search if practical." (App. 66). Sergeant Mark Bryant also testified regarding his involvement in the felony traffic stop and search warrant. (App. 71). He testified Petitioner had "a bit of an attitude," was talking back and raising his voice, and was not calm while the search was in progress. (App. 75). On cross-examination, he admitted he did not give Petitioner a copy of the search warrant. (App. 80).

Next, Detective Andrew Miller testified that while the officers were conducting the search, Petitioner asked repeatedly why he was being arrested even though Det. Miller said it was explained to him at the time. (App. 84). On cross-examination, he testified he did not give Petitioner a copy of the search warrant and did not recall Petitioner asking for one. (App. 86). The defense then called Petitioner, who offered a slightly different version of events. He claimed he stepped out of the car and was tackled. (App. 96). Petitioner also testified that he asked for the search warrant but the detectives told him, "Don't worry about that." (App. 97). On cross-examination, the State showed Petitioner his statement and asked him to read a portion that stated: "Up the stairs and told us we were both under arrest for distribution of heroin and we sold over two ounces" (App. 104). Petitioner confirmed Det. Waddell told him why he was under arrest and why the search was happening. (App. 107).

After the testimony of the witnesses, trial counsel argued based on *United States v. Thompson*, 667 F. Supp. 2d 758, 763 (2009), that the search was unreasonable because officers did not give Petitioner a copy of the search warrant, and he moved to suppress all the evidence. (App. 109). He argued the statute requires officers to serve a copy on the defendant, not just leave

a copy at the residence. He claimed they could only leave a copy at the residence if no one was there, which was not the case here. (App. 110). He further argued the felony traffic stop was a factor in the unreasonableness of the execution of the search. (App. 111).

The State argued the circumstances in Thompson were different because a woman who was not part of the investigation was left outside in the heat for five hours with only a shirt on, and law enforcement did not identify themselves or explain what they were doing. (App. 112). The solicitor argued that in this case the felony traffic stop was necessary—based on the information officers had about Petitioner’s prior conviction and pending charges for guns and drugs—to minimize danger of taking Petitioner into custody. (App. 113). She referred to the testimony by officers that Petitioner was informed why he was being arrested and that a search was going to be executed at his residence. (App. 113). She further argued that a copy of the search warrant could not be handed to him because he was belligerent and had his hands cuffed behind his back such that it would have been impossible for him to hold the copy. (App. 116). Finally, she pointed out that the rationale behind suppressing evidence is to deter unlawful government behavior and because the government behaved lawfully and reasonably here while taking into consideration the safety of the community, suppression would not deter unlawful behavior. (App. 116).

The trial judge distinguished the Thompson case and ultimately found the search was reasonable. He found the testimony of the officers established justifiable reasons for the way the arrest and search were conducted. (App. 121). He took into consideration the risk to officer safety based on Petitioner’s criminal history and found that the failure to give a copy of the search warrant to Petitioner while his hands were cuffed behind his back was not “enough in and of itself to deem the search unreasonable within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment.” (App. 122). He therefore denied the motion to suppress. (App. 124).

At trial, Detective Frank Waddell testified consistently with his pretrial testimony. The State then called Philip Roberson, a sergeant with the Charleston County Sheriff's Office who was involved in executing the search warrant at Petitioner's residence. (App. 197-199). Roberson's role was to search the kitchen and part of the bedroom. (App. 200). He testified that in the kitchen he found a bowl in the refrigerator that contained rice and drugs; he also found a whisk, mixing bowl, and scales. (App. 201). He explained that the drugs he found were in bindles, which he said were packaged similarly to headache powder, and ten of them make up a bundle. (App. 201). On cross-examination, Roberson testified that he recalled getting into the apartment not by forced entry but by using a key. (App. 201).

Deputy Andrew Miller testified next regarding his role in the search as evidence custodian. (App. 212). Miller collected all evidence found on the scene, took photographs of it, and transported it back to headquarters. (App. 212-213, 222). He verified at trial that the bowls the drugs were found in were in the same condition as the day of the search except for the addition of fingerprint powder. (App. 222-223). On cross-examination, trial counsel questioned him about a photograph of the door, and Dep. Miller testified he did not remember whether a key was used for entry. (App. 233). He admitted the door looked like it had been busted open, but on redirect, he said it did not look like the door had been rammed because there was no large round mark on the door and the handle was not broken. (App. 233, 237). When trial counsel asked him on recross, "Isn't this just a photograph of the door before it was busted open?" he answered that he would not take a photograph before entry because it would put him at risk. (App. 238).

Jason Riley then testified as a forensic technician for the sheriff's department and went through the evidence storage process and explained chain of custody. (App. 245-259). Riley recalled that Dep. Miller submitted a sealed package containing the bindles of heroin into evidence

to him. (App. 250-251). He testified he would not have accepted them into evidence if they had been tampered with. (App. 253). He transported the evidence on several occasions, taking it to the City of Charleston's drug lab, and testified that it appeared to be in substantially the same condition as when he first saw it. (App. 254). He named two other people in his unit who also touched the evidence: Investigators Mark Watson and Aaron Meyer. (App. 255). On cross-examination, he went over the dates the evidence was signed in and out and testified it was outside of his control three times. (App. 256).

Next, Susan Payne testified as the evidence custodian in the forensic services division of the City of Charleston Police Department. (App. 259). She testified she received the drug evidence at the city's lab, that the evidence had not been tampered with, and that she would not have transported the evidence at any time if it had appeared to be tampered with. (App.260-261). She testified that it looked like it was in the same condition as when she first saw it and that she received it from Jason Riley and transported it to Renee Hilton (App. 262). On cross-examination, she testified in more detail that after receiving the evidence from Riley on March 1, 2013, she placed it in a safe and then it went to Elizabeth Mitchell before coming back to her on June 1, 2015. (App. 263-264). It then went to Renee Hilton and stayed at the Charleston Police Department for seven days, from June 1-8, 2015, before going back to the sheriff's office. (App. 264). Payne received it again on November 23, 2015, before it went to Hilton again. (App. 264). Payne admitted that when she received it back from Mitchell on June 1, 2015, the bag had been cut open. (App. 265).

Hilton, a criminalist, and laboratory manager at the City of Charleston Police Department, testified next. (App. 266). As lab manager, Hilton was responsible for the upkeep and management of the lab's equipment and personnel. (App 267). The trial court qualified her as an

expert in drug analysis without objection. (App. 269). Hilton testified she analyzed the substances in this case and prepared a report on December 1, 2015. (App. 273-274). She testified the same sample had previously been tested by Elizabeth Mitchell. She knew this because she performed the technical review of the previous analysis. (App. 272). She testified the drugs were retested because the Mitchell was no longer employed at the lab and was not available to testify. (App. 272). She testified each time a substance is tested there is an amount removed for testing that changes the weight and that temperature can also affect weight. (App. 272-273). When the State tried to admit the report, trial counsel objected, and the jury was excused. (App. 274).

Petitioner objected to the chain of custody based on the fact that the State did not call Elizabeth Mitchell to testify, citing *State v. Joseph*, 328 S.C. 352, 491 S.E.2d 275 (Ct. App. 1997). (App. 275). He also objected on the basis that Ashley Earl and Mark Watson, two people who were identified as having had possession of the drugs at some point, did not testify. (App. 275-276). Petitioner moved to exclude the drugs based on the chain of custody, claiming Mitchell was a crucial element. (App. 276). The State argued that it had presented a sufficient chain of custody. (App. 276-279). After arguments from both parties, the trial judge ruled the chain of custody had been sufficiently established, noting that the purpose of a chain of custody is to ensure an item is what it is purported to be. (App. 299-300). He found the chain had been established as far as practicable, the identity of all people who handled the evidence had been established, and there was no evidence of tampering. (App. 300). Finally, he determined that any discrepancies were certainly grounds the defense could pursue on cross-examination regarding credibility but did not change his ruling on admissibility. (App. 300).

After the State rested, the trial judge clarified his ruling after realizing he had misnamed the case he was relying on. He explained he was relying on *State v. Hatcher* and *State v. Taylor*.

He noted “[t]here was expert testimony by Ms. Hilton that the State presented that demonstrates the likely and probable manner in which Ms. Mitchell tested and resealed this fungible item. And the identity of the people who transported it and had control at various times was established as far as practicable.” (App. 319). Trial counsel renewed his motions to suppress based on the search and chain of custody and moved for a directed verdict. The trial judge denied the motions. (App. 319-320).

Ultimately, the jury found Petitioner guilty, and Judge Hill sentenced him to twelve years’ imprisonment with credit for time served. (App. 381, 389).

ARGUMENT

The post-conviction relief court properly denied post-conviction relief where trial counsel did not object to witness testimony or move for a mistrial.

Petitioner contends that the PCR court erred finding that trial counsel was not ineffective where he did not object to specific testimony from State's witness, Andrew Miller, and for failing to move for a mistrial following the below referenced testimony. Petitioner's PCR counsel directed the Court to the following testimony in support of this allegation. "In my training and experiencing this is how they would in – especially with the drugs that he was selling, how they would keep those together. They would wrap it up so they wouldn't lose any of the drugs that were inside." [sic] (App. 217). Though Applicant's PCR counsel placed this allegation on the record at the beginning of the evidentiary hearing, PCR counsel informed the PCR Applicant would rest on the record and would not present testimony or argument for this allegation. The PCR Court found Applicant's allegation was without merit as Applicant failed to present any evidence to suggest that Counsel's performance was deficient, nor did Counsel present any evidence that Applicant was prejudiced by Counsel's failure to object to support the allegation.

When an applicant alleges ineffective assistance of counsel, the applicant must prove "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984); Butler, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814. The proper measure of performance is whether an attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Strickland at 687. "There is a strong presumption that counsel rendered adequate assistance and exercised reasonable professional judgment in making all significant decisions in the case." Ard v. Catoe, 372 S.C. 318, 331, 642 S.E.2d 590, 596 (2007). The applicant must overcome this presumption to receive relief. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 118, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989).

Courts use a two-pronged test to evaluate allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. First, the applicant must prove counsel's performance was deficient. The attorney's performance is measured by its "reasonableness under professional norms." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 385 S.E.2d at 625 (citing Strickland). Second, counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

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